FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
3/4/2020 3:50 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/11/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98259-7

## THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

From Court of Appeals No. 362094 Consolidated with Court of Appeals No. 362108

From Chelan County Superior Court No. 162001232 Hon. Kristen M. Ferrera

## JENNIFER CURTIN, GLEN CURTIN and BECKY CURTIN,

Plaintiffs / Respondents,

٧.

## CITY OF EAST WENATCHEE,

Defendant / Petitioner.

### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

JERRY J. MOBERG, WSBA No. 5282 JAMES E. BAKER, WSBA No. 9459 P.O. Box 130 – 124 3<sup>rd</sup> Avenue S.W. Ephrata, WA 98823 Phone: (509) 754 2356

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioner is the City of East Wenatchee.

#### B. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed a published opinion on Feb. 6, 2020. (No. 1 to the attached Appendix.) The opinion is published at *Curtin v. City of East Wenatchee*, -- Wn.App. --, -- P.3d --, 2020 WL 582148 (Wn.App. 2020). The Court of Appeals held: "Under Washington law, both parent and child are entitled to seek recovery for pre-majority medical expenses." (Slip opinion at 2.)

The trial court entered an order on June 21, 2018. (No. 2 to the attached Appendix.) The trial court held:

Plaintiff Jennifer [Curtin] cannot claim premajority medical expenses. Such expenses belong to Plaintiff Jennifer Curtin's parents.

No. 3 to the attached Appendix is the Complaint.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is an adult entitled to recover pre-majority medical expenses in a tort action when the adult's parents are barred by the statute of limitations from recovery of the pre-majority medical expenses?

- 2. When an unemancipated minor does not contract for medical care, is the minor liable to those providing medical care to the minor?
- 3. Is the decision of the Court of Appeals in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The opinion by the Court of Appeals sets forth the facts leading to the trial court's order denying the minor's right to seek pre-majority medical expenses. On Dec. 9, 2009, when Jennifer Curtin was 14-years-old, she was struck by a car driven by Leo Agens while crossing a street in the City of East Wenatchee. Jennifer incurred extensive medical expenses before she attained the age of 18. On Feb. 4, 2016 -- more than six years after the occurrence -- a Complaint was filed in Chelan County Superior Court by Jennifer and her parents, Glen Curtin and Becky Curtin. At the time the Complaint was filed, Jennifer was 20-years-old. Jennifer brought her lawsuit on her own as an adult and did not need a parent as guardian ad litem to bring the suit on her behalf.

The claims of Jennifer's parents were dismissed because they were barred by the three-year statute of limitations that applied to them. The trial court granted partial summary judgment holding that Jennifer was not entitled to seek pre-majority medical expenses because those expenses could only be recovered by Jennifer's parents.

#### E. ARGUMENT

1. An adult is not entitled to recover pre-majority medical expenses in a tort action when the adult's parents are barred by the statute of limitations from recovery of the pre-majority medical expenses.

The Supreme Court has never overruled the law that two causes of action arise when a minor is injured: (1) one in favor of the minor for pain and suffering and permanent injury and (2) the other in favor of the parent for loss of services during minority and expenses of treatment. *Flessher v. Carstens Packing Co.*, 105 Wash. 694, 695, 179 Pac. 100 (1919) (rule stated); *Flesher v. Carstens Packing Co.*, 96 Wash. 505, 509, 165 Pac. 397 (1917) (rule stated); *Harris v. Puget Sound Elec. Railway*, 52 Wash. 299, 300-01, 100 Pac. 841 (1909) (rule stated).

In *Handley v. Anacortes Ice Co.,* 5 Wn.2d 384, 105 P.2d 505 (1940), the Washington Supreme Court held that a minor's medical

The *Harris* opinion has been cited for the rule that "the courts all agree that if the parties are in the usual situation with respect to recovery . . . the parent, and not the child, may recover the damages [for medical expenses]." Annot., *What items of damages* 

bills are damages to be recovered only by the minor's parents. Reinhard Lehne, a minor, was seriously injured when he was struck by a foul ball and "suffered a skull fracture, which necessitated a serious surgical operation [with] the lad's parents incurring medical and surgical expenses." 5 Wn.2d at 388. The Court stated that the boy could recover for any impairment after he reached the age of majority and if he was "emancipated from parental control prior to that time . . . his earnings would be his own." *Id.* at 396. The Court noted that the jury was properly instructed.

[T]he jury were told . . . they should return separate verdicts upon the **two causes of action** set forth in respondents' complaint – first, for damages suffered by the respondent minor, and **second**, **to compensate respondent parents for necessary expense in connection with doctor's bills, etc., incurred on account of the child's injuries.** 

Id. (Emphasis added.) The Washington Supreme Court then affirmed separate jury verdicts in favor of the minor and the minor's parents. Id. at 397. "We find no error in the record of which appellant Oakley can complain," the Court concluded. Id.

The Restatement (Second) of Torts § 703 (1977) states:

on account of personal injury to infant belong to him and what to parent, 37 A.L.R. 11 (1925 – updated weekly) at § III(c).

4

-

One who by reason of his tortious conduct is liable to a minor child for illness or other bodily harm is subject to liability to

- (a) the parent who is entitled to the child's services for any resulting services or ability to render services, and to
- (b) the parent who is under a legal duty to furnish medical treatment for any expenses reasonably incurred or likely to be incurred for the treatment during the child's minority.

42 Am.Jur.2d *Infants* § 141 (2d ed. – updated February 2020) states:

Generally, a minor does not have a cause of action for his or her medical expenses because the parents possess the exclusive right to recovery for a minor's premajority medical expenses.

Citing Flessher, supra, and Donald v. City of Ballard, 34 Wash. 576, 76 Pac. 80 (1904), the Court of Appeals suggested that the general rule was in doubt when it stated:

Yet there had been cases where a parent, as guardian ad litem in the child's action, had sought and recovered expenses to which he was entitled as a parent. When this happened, case law held that the parent was deemed to "have emancipated his [child] in so far as the right to recover damages which were included in the [child's] suit is concerned."

Fortson-Kemmerer v. Allstate Ins. Co., 198 Wn.App. 387, 403-04, 393 P.3d 849 (2017), rev. denied 189 Wn.2d 1039, 409 P.3d 1071 (2018). Fortson-Kemmerer involved an underinsured motorist

claim brought by an adult. There was not a guardian ad litem involved. The case did not involve whether an adult like Jennifer could recover pre-majority medical expenses which were the responsibility of a parent.

The Court of Appeals in the case at bar relied upon two decisions of the Supreme Court that did not squarely address the issue raised in this case: *McAllister v Saginaw Timber Co.*, 171 Wash. 448, 18 P. 41 (1933) and *Flessher v. Carstens Packing Co.*, 96 Wash. 505, 165 P. 397 (1917). **The cases both involve claims for a minor's medical expenses brought by a guardian ad litem.** The cases do not involve an adult seeking to recover premajority medical expenses when a guardian ad litem was not involved.

McAllister – William McAllister, a minor, was injured when a car he was driving collided with a horse that defendant timber company negligently permitted to stray upon the highway. 171 Wash. at 448. Suit was brought by the minor's mother on behalf of the minor. *Id.* A judgment for \$2,600 was entered on a verdict. *Id.* at 449. The verdict included \$100 for the fee of a physician. *Id.* at 451. Defendant objected to the award of the physician's bill

because William's "mother, personally, and not himself, became liable for such physician services." *Id.* The Supreme Court stated:

While the mother, we may concede, would be liable to the physician for such services and could recover therefrom from the timber company as an item of damages suffered by her, it does not follow that William was not equally liable therefor to the Manifestly. those physician. services "necessaries" in that legal sense for which William, a minor, became liable. Rem. Rev. Stat. § 5829 . . . . William's mother claiming this item of damage as his quardian ad litem for his benefit, it seems plain, will estop her from again claiming it for her own benefit. So, the timber company is not prejudiced by the award in favor of William.

Id. There was no indication that the lawsuit was filed more than three years after the occurrence. The mother as guardian ad litem could have recovered William's medical expenses. See Flessher, infra. Importantly, the "necessaries" doctrine was not necessary to reach the result because when a guardian ad litem brings suit on behalf of a minor child the guardian ad litem is entitled to recover the minor's medical expenses. See Flessher, infra.

Flessher – Mabel Flessher, the minor daughter of Charles Flessher, became sick after eating defendant packing company's meat. 96 Wash. at 506. A lawsuit was styled Mabel Flessner, Plaintiff, by Charles Flesher, Guardian ad Litem v. Carstens Packing Company, Defendant . *Id.* The complaint sought:

(a) Expense of the [father] for medical treatment for his daughter; (b) expense incurred in caring for, or nursing, his daughter; and (c) for loss of services.

Id. The case was peculiar because the lawsuit had been removed to federal district court where there was a judgment on a verdict for \$1,250. Id. at 507. The Supreme Court stated it appeared that the claims in the federal action were made "for medical attendance, loss of services during the period of minority, and expenses for care or nursing" but the action did not include "items of expense for medical attendance and care." Id. at 510. The Supreme Court added:

Since these items were not litigated in any form in the federal court action, it cannot be said that the appellant [Charles] authorized a recovery for such items therein, and is therefore estopped from maintaining the present action.

Id. The opinion did not state or imply that Mabel, the minor, was allowed to recover pre-majority medical expenses on her own without a guardian ad litem. Suit had to be filed on the minor's behalf by a guardian ad litem. It was Mabel's father as the guardian ad litem -- and not the minor -- who was allowed to claim Mabel's medical expenses. Moreover, there is no indication that the lawsuit was filed more than three years after the occurrence. The Flessher court stated at 509:

The law is that, when a minor is injured, two causes of action arise, one in favor of the minor for pain and suffering and permanent injury, the other in favor of the parent for loss of services during minority or expenses of treatment. These actions may be joined or tried separately.

(Emphasis added.) The *Flessher* court stated that when a father *as guardian ad litem* brings a suit for injuries to a minor "for damages which would otherwise be recoverable by the father" then

the father has emancipated his [minor child] in so far as the right to recover damages which were included in the [minor child's] suit. . . . That the father consented to this recovery by the [minor child] is manifest, since he himself caused the action to be brought in his own name as guardian ad litem, and specifically included the item of damage here under discussion.

Id. at 509-10, quoting Donald v. City of Ballard, 34 Wash. 576, 577-78, 76 Pac. 80 (1904). Here, a guardian ad litem did not bring a claim on behalf of an unemancipated minor for pre-majority medical expenses. When the lawsuit was filed, Jennifer was an adult bringing an action on her own.

The Court of Appeals in the case at bar cited the common law rule that a minor's parents hold the exclusive rights to recover a child's medical expenses. (Slip opinion at 5, *citing State of West* 

Virginia ex rel. Packard v. Perry, 655 S.E.2d 548, 554 (W.V. 2007).<sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals then cited out-of-jurisdiction cases that allow the recovery of pre-majority medical expenses when parent claims are barred by the statute of limitations. (Slip opinion at 5, *citing Est. of Est. of DeSela v. Prescott Unified Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 249 P.3d 767, 769-70 (Ariz. 2011) and *Boley v. Knowles*, 905 S.W.2d 86, 90 (Mo. App. 1995).

The Court of Appeals was not entitled to overrule the decisions of the Washington Supreme Court based upon out-of-jurisdiction opinions. The Court of Appeals created new case law in conflict with cases decided by the Washington Supreme Court. The *Packard* court acknowledged:

[T]he majority of states continue to adhere, in some form, to the common-law rule that "[w]here a minor child is injured by the wrongful act or omission of another, the parent, and only the parent, ordinarily has a right of action for loss of services of the child and other pecuniary damages sustained in consequence of such injury."

655 S.E.2d at 556, quoting 67A C.J.S. Parent and Child § 331 (2002) and citing Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Alabama v. Bolding ex rel. Bolding, 465 So.2d 409, 412 (Ala. App. 1984) ("Ordinarily,

The *Packard* court went on to hold that "the right to maintain an action to recovery pre-majority medical expenses . . . belongs

the father may recover in a separate suit for the loss of his child's services and for medical expenses incurred in treating his child. The minor is not entitled to such a recovery."); Nat'l Bank of Comm. v. Quirk, 918 S.W.2d 138, 151 (Ark. 1996) (a child does not have an independent right to recovery medical expenses); Brent v. Hin, 561 S.E.2d 212, 215 (Ga. App. 2002) ("the right to recover a minor's medical expenses in a tort action is vested solely in the child's parents"); Primax Recoveries, Inc. v. Atherton, 851 N.E.2d 639, 642 (III. App. 2006) ("any claim for medical expenses incurred in treating a minor for injuries sustained due to a tortfeasor's negligence belongs to the parents, rather than to the child."), appeal den. 857 N.E.2d 638 (III. 2006). Betz v. Farm Bur. Mut. Ins. Agency of Kansas, Inc., 8 P.3d 756, 760 (Kan. 2000) ("Generally, the right to seek medical expense damages for an injured child belongs to the parents, rather than to the child."); Palmore v. Kirkland Lab., Inc., 527 P.2d 391, 396 (Or. 1974) ("It is generally held that the medical expenses incurred due to the negligent injury of an minor unemancipated child are damages suffered by the parent and not the child."). In footnote 10 the Packard court also cited cases from Alaska, Colorado, Delaware, Iowa, New

both to the minor and the minor's parents . . . . " 665 S.E.2d at 561.

Hampshire, North Carolina and Wisconsin holding that a claim for a minor's medical expenses is a claim owned by the parent and not by the child.

## 2. When a minor does not contract for medical care, the minor is not liable to those providing medical care.

The Court of Appeals may have based its opinion in part by a statement set forth in McAllister v. Saginaw Timber Co., 171 Wash. 448, 451, 18 Pac. 41 (1933), in which the Court stated that medical expenses are "necessaries" for which the minor became liable. (This statement can be considered to be dicta because it was not necessary for the Court to reach its decision. As explained above, the minor was represented by a guardian ad litem, who had authority to seek the minor's pre-majority medical expenses.) The McAllister court cited former Rem. Rev. Stat. § 5829, which provided: "A minor is bound, not only by contracts for necessaries, but also by his contracts, unless he disaffirms them within a reasonable time after he attains majority . . . . " (Emphasis added.) The statute is re-codified at RCW 26.28.030. The statute speaks to contracts actually made by a minor. "A minor is . . . capable of making contracts." Wise v. Truck Ins. Exchange, 11 Wn.App. 405, 408, 523 P.2d 431 (1974), rev. denied 84 Wn.2d 1006 (1974).

(Emphasis added.) However, the purpose of this statute "is **to protect the infant** against improvidence and folly, because his mind and judgment are immature." *Id., quoting with approval Snodderly v. Brotherton,* 173 Wash. 86, 90, 21 P.2d 1036 (1933). (Emphasis added.)

Under Washington law, an unemancipated minor must actually "make" a contract to be potentially bound to pay for medical services. *Wise,* 11 Wn.App. at 408. Such a contract cannot be formed by implication. Unemancipated minors are presumed to be incompetent to make medical decisions. *In re Cassandra C.,* 112 A.3d 158, 170, 316 Conn. 476, 497 (Conn. 2015). The United States Supreme Court has recognized:

Most children, even in adolescence, simply are not able to make sound judgments concerning many decisions, including their need for medical care and treatment. Parents can and must make those judgments.

Parham v. J.R., 442 U.S. 584, 603 (1979).

The requirement that medical care be provided to a minor only with the consent of the minor's parent or guardian remains the general rule, both in California and throughout the United States.

*Am. Acad. of Pediatrics v. Lungren,* 16 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 307, 314-15, 940 P.2d 797, 66 Cal.Rptr.2d 210 (Cal. 1997).

Here, the contract to provide medical care to Jennifer was a contract made by her parents. RCW 26.16.205, which imposes civil liability on parental property for expenses of family and education of children, has been held to be broad enough to include "necessaries" which include necessary medical expenses of dependent minor children. *State v. Williams*, 4 Wn.App. 908, 912, 484 P.2d 1167 (1971). The "parents bear the primary responsibility for the support of their children." *In re Dependency of Schermer*, 161 Wn.2d 927, 959, 169 P.3d 452 (2007). "In particular, a parent remains financially responsible for a dependent child's medical expenses." *Id.* It is the duty of parents – not the unemancipated minor -- to provide for a child's "necessaries." RCW 26.16.205 ("The expenses of the family . . . are chargeable upon the property of both spouses . . . .")

While necessaries can in some situations become an obligation of a minor, the contract for the necessaries must actually be made by the minor. Here, Jennifer did not enter into any contract of her own for medical care.

3. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court.

In light of the above, review of the decision by the Court of Appeals' decision is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), which provides that a petition for review may be granted when "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court."

Here, the Court of Appeals effectively overruled the Supreme Court by adopting out-of-state case law from West Virginia, Arizona and Missouri. The Court of Appeals is bound to follow precedent of the Supreme Court even if the Court of Appeals concludes that the law should be changed. *Cf. East Bay Sanctuary Covenant v. Trump*, 2020 WL 962336, \*5 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2020) ("Published decisions of this court become law of the circuit, which is binding authority that we and the district courts must follow until overruled."); *Hart v. Massanari*, 266 F.3d 1156, 1175 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) ("A district court bound by circuit authority . . . has no choice but to follow it, even if convinced that such authority was wrongly decided.").

The decision by the Court of Appeals directly conflicts with the Supreme Court's decisions in cases in which this Court held that that a claim for an unemancipated minor's medical expenses is a claim owned by the minor's parents – not by the minor. As explained above, the Court of Appeals decision relied upon two decisions of the Supreme Court that did not squarely address the issue raised in this case.

An Appendix is attached to this Petition for Review. The Appendix consists of the challenged opinion by the Court of Appeals, the trial court's order and the Complaint.

#### F. CONCLUSION

The Court should grant this Petition for Review.