FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/25/2020 1:03 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98259-7

#### THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

From Court of Appeals No. 36209-4-III (consolidated with 36210-8-III)

#### JENNIFER CURTIN,

Plaintiff / Respondent

v.

CITY OF EAST WENATCHEE,

Defendant / Petitioner

# ANSWER TO PEITION FOR REVIEW

The Law Offices of STEVEN D. WEIER, PS

Steven D. Weier, WSBA #22160 Paul B. Apple, WSBA #21846 Attorneys for Respondent

> 331 Andover Park East Tukwila, WA 98188 Phone: (253) 931-0332 Fax: (253) 735-2845 <u>steven@weierlaw.com</u> papple@weierlaw.com

#

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

Obviously, the parents and child may not both recover for the same medical expenses, but one or the other can make recovery. See *Wooldridge v. Woolett*, 96 Wash.2d 659, 666, 638 P.2d 566 (1981); *Harbeson v. Parke-Davis, Inc.*, 98 Wn. 2d 460, 656 P.2d 483 (1983) citing *Woodridge v. Woolett*, 96 Wn.2d, 659, 666, 638 P.2d 566 (1981). In this case Petitioners are arguing that no one, not even the minor now as an adult, can ever claim the pre-majority medical expenses, unless expressly contracted for by the minor and waived by the parents. Washington law requires no such express contract or waiver for there to be a contract based on necessaries.

# **2.** Doctrine of a Minor Child's Medical Expenses as necessities is still valid Washington Law.

Petitioner East Wenatchee argues that "the contract for the necessaries must be made by the minor." See East Wenatchee Petition for Review page 14. This is an unsupported conclusion based on Petitioners' misunderstanding of the common law doctrine of medical expenses as necessaries, and Washington's informed consent laws which create the foundational right for medical providers to seek repayment of medical expenses as necessaries from either the parent or the child.

An injured minor may recover for his or her medical expenses when those expenses arise from the doctrine that medical expenses are necessaries. See 42 Am.Jur.2d Infants § 145. To understand what "necessaries" are, Respondents direct this Court's attention to 42 Am.Jur.2d Infants § 145 Claim for medical expenses, which states as follows:

Generally, a minor child does not have a cause of action for his or her medical expenses because the parents possess the exclusive right to recover for a minor's pre-majority medical expenses.<sup>1</sup> Since it is the parents' legal duty and obligation to provide their child's necessaries, the action to recover medical expenses of a child is vested exclusively in the child's parents.<sup>2</sup> However, exceptions exist to this general rule that an injured minor may not recover for his or her medical expenses,<sup>3</sup> and he or she may recover those expenses when—

— the minor child has paid or agreed to pay them.<sup>4</sup>

— the child is legally responsible for their payment, such as by reason of emancipation, or the death or incompetency of his or her parents.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>2</sup> Capp v. Carlito's Mexican Bar & Grill No. 1, Inc., 288 Ga. App. 779, 655 S.E.2d 232 (2007).

<sup>3</sup> Laughner v. Bryne, 18 Cal. App. 4th 904, 22 Cal. Rptr. 2d 671 (2d Dist. 1993).

<sup>4</sup> Hutto v. BIC Corp., 800 F. Supp. 1367 (E.D. Va. 1992) (applying Virginia law); Pepper v. Johns Hopkins Hosp., 111 Md. App. 49, 680 A.2d 532 (1996), aff'd, 346 Md. 679, 697 A.2d 1358 (1997). As obligation to pay for expenses as a "necessary," see §70.

<sup>5</sup> Hutto v. BIC Corp., 800 F. Supp. 1367 (E.D. Va. 1992) (applying Virginia law); Packard v. Perry, 221 W. Va. 526, 55 S.E.2d 548 (2007).

Note: Following footnotes 1-10 are from 42 Am.Jur.2d Infants § 145 follow below (citation to these authorities are omitted from Respondent's Table of Contents)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Clardy v. ATS, Inc. Employee Welfare Benefit Plan, 921 F. Supp. 394 (N.D. Miss. 1996) (applying Mississippi law); National Bank of Commerce v. Quirk, 323 Ark. 769, 918 S.W.2d 138 (1996); Dewey v. Zack, 272 Ill. App. 3d 742, 209 Ill. Dec. 465, 651 N.E.2d 643 (2d Dist. 1995); Pepper v. Johns Hopkins Hosp., 111 Md. App. 49, 680 A.2d 532 (1996), aff'd, 346 Md. 679, 697 A.2d 1358 (1997); Eaves v. Boswell, 852 S.W.2d 353 (Mo. Ct. App. S.D. 1993); People v. Barnett, 17 Misc. 3d 505, 844 N.Y.S.2d 662 (County Ct. 2007); Byank v. Ski Liberty, 39 Pa. D. & C.4th 255, 1999 WL 483262 (C.P. 1999).

— the child is personally liable for payment of the expenses because his or her parents cannot afford to pay them.<sup>6</sup>

<u>— the infant's obligations arise from the doctrine that</u> <u>medical expenses are necessaries</u>.<sup>7</sup>

— the parents have waived or assigned their right of recovery in favor of a minor child.<sup>8</sup>

<u>—</u>the parents are barred from asserting a claim for a minor's medical expenses due to the statute of limitations.<sup>9</sup>

— recovery of medical expenses by the infant is permitted by statute.  $^{10}\,$ 

Id. (Emphasis Added)

In Washington State, an infant is incompetent to contract except for

necessaries of life. Chan Hai, In re, 11 F.2d 667 (W.D. Wash. 1926),

affirmed Chan Hai v. Weedin 15 F.2d 296 (U.S. 9th Cir.1926) [emphasis

added]. Unless the minor is a single emancipated minor under the Mature

Minor Doctrine, the minor cannot consent and receive treatment without

parental consent in health care decisions. See Smith v. Seibly, 72 Wn.2d 16,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Lopez v. Cole, 214 Ariz. 536, 155 P.3d 1060 (Ct. App. Div. 1 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Johns Hopkins Hosp. v. Pepper, 346 Md. 679, 697 A.2d 1358 (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Hutto v. BIC Corp., 800 F. Supp. 1367 (E.D. Va. 1992) (applying Virginia law); Estate of DeSela v. Prescott Unified School Dist. No. 1, 224 Ariz. 202, 228 P.3d 938, 255 Ed. Law Rep. 991 (Ct. App. Div. 1 2010), as amended, (May 27, 2010); Myer v. Dyer, 643 A.2d 1382 (Del. Super. Ct. 1993); Bauer ex rel. Bauer v. Memorial Hosp., 377 Ill. App. 3d 895, 316 Ill. Dec. 411, 879 N.E.2d 478 (5th Dist. 2007), appeal denied, 227 Ill. 2d 577, 321 Ill. Dec. 249, 888 N.E.2d 1182 (2008); Pepper v. Johns Hopkins Hosp., 111 Md. App. 49, 680 A.2d 532 (1996), aff'd, 346 Md. 679, 697 A.2d 1358 (1997); Eaves v. Boswell, 852 S.W.2d 353 (Mo. Ct. App. S.D. 1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Myer v. Dyer, 643 A.2d 1382 (Del. Super. Ct. 1993); Johns Hopkins Hosp. v. Pepper, 346 Md. 679, 697 A.2d 1358 (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Hutto v. BIC Corp., 800 F. Supp. 1367 (E.D. Va. 1992) (applying Virginia law); Pepper v. Johns Hopkins Hosp., 111 Md. App. 49, 680 A.2d 532 (1996), aff'd, 346 Md. 679, 697 A.2d 1358 (1997).

431 P.2d 719 (1967). In addition, emergency medical services provided to minors are medical necessaries. See McAllister v. Saginaw Timber Co., 171 Wash. at 451; see also, Hammer v. Caine, 47 Wash. 672, at 673, 92 P. 441 (1907). If the parent's consent is not readily available, the consent requirement for that treatment is satisfied and the minor can receive medical services. See RCW  $7.70.050(4)^{11}$  There is no requirement that the minor affirmatively enter into a formal contract for medical necessaries, rather, it is an implied contract based on the theory that the minor or the parent would have consented to life sustaining treatment if they were able to consent. See Orwick v. Fox, 65 Wn.App. 71, 86, 828 P.2d 12, rev. denied, 120 Wn.2d 1014 (1992). For non-emergency medical services, all parents have to give express or implied consent to any medical treatment as a prerequisite before receiving treatment by any medical provider licensed<sup>12</sup> whether it was verbal or written, or whether it was consented to by the parent, or the emancipated minor under the Mature Minor Doctrine. See Miller v. Kennedy, 11Wn.App. 272, 281-282, 522 P.2d 852 (1974) aff'd per curium, 85 Wn.2d 151 (1975). Non-written consent to medical treatment would also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> If a recognized health care emergency exists and the patient is not legally competent to give an informed consent and/or a person legally authorized to consent on behalf of the patient is not readily available, his or her consent to required treatment will be implied. <sup>12</sup> Conditions of Participation for critical access hospitals, and surgery centers requires clinical records to include consent forms. See; ERISA; 42 C.F.R. § 416.47(b)(7) and 42 C.F.R. §482.24(c)(4)(v)

create an implied contract based on performance of medical services under the theory of unjust enrichment. See *Heaton v. Imus*, 93 Wn.2d 249, 252, 608 P.2d 631 (1980) and 6A Wash. Prac, WPI 301A.02 (7th Ed). Also, as a "family member" insured under her parents' health insurance policies, Jennifer is personally liable for repayment of the expenses to her insurers under the subrogation and reimbursement clauses from any amounts recovered from the tortfeasors. **CP 101, 773-776, 778.** 

Further, the common law doctrine of a minor being liable to pay for necessaries has long been codified by Washington state statute and case law. See RCW 26.28.030 (formerly Rem. Rev. Stat. §5829). Under RCW 26.28.030:

A minor is bound, not only by contracts for necessaries, but also by his or her other contracts, unless he or she disaffirms them within a reasonable time after he or she attains his or her majority, and restores to the other party all money and property received by him or her by virtue of the contract, and remaining within his or her control at any time after his or her attaining his or her majority.

(Emphasis added). It is clear that a minor is bound for contracts for necessaries. See RCW 26.28.030, *Lubin v. Cowell*, 25 Wn.2d 171, 170 P.2d 301 (1946) and *Plummer v. Northern Pac. Ry. Co.*, 98 Wash. 67, 167 P. 73 (1917) (infant is liable on implied contract to pay reasonable value of necessaries).

In *McAllister v. Saginaw Timber Co.*, 71 Wash. 448, 451, 18 P.2d 41 (1933), Washington's Supreme Court held long ago that medical expenses incurred by the minor, injured in an automobile collision, are "necessaries" for which minor is liable and can independently recover at trial if not recovered by the parent. Clearly *McAllister*, adopts this exception to the general rule that only a parent can claim the child's medical expenses.

# **3.** The Petition for Review fails to meet the criteria for RAP **13.4(b)** where, the Court of Appeals Decision is not in conflict with any Supreme Court case or other Court of Appeals case.

Under RAP 13.4(b) the Washington Supreme Court will accept review of a Court of Appeals decision terminating review only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals....

See RAP 13.4(b).

Review is only appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) when the Court

of Appeals' decision conflicts with binding Supreme Court precedent.

RAP 13.4(b)(2) authorizes review only if the Court of Appeals decision

conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals. See State v. Taylor,

140 Wn.2d 229, 235, 996 P.2d 571 (2000). Petitioner here only asserts RAP 13.4(b)(1) that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with "decisions of the Supreme Court." See East Wenatchee's Petition for Review pages 14-16.

Petitioner states that the "decision relied upon two decisions of the Supreme Court that did not squarely address the issue raised in this case." Id. at page 16. [Emphasis added] Petitioner merely states, "Here the Court of Appeals effectively overruled the Supreme Court by adopting out-of-state case law from West Virginia, Arizona, and Missouri" and "directly conflicts with the Supreme Court's decisions in cases where this Court held that a claim for an unemancipated minor's medical expenses is a claim owned by the minor's parent -not by the minor." Id at page 15. [Emphasis added]. Petitioner does not cite to specific Washington Supreme Court cases they believe conflict with the decision in this case.<sup>13</sup>

However, it is Petitioner's citation to out of state case law that the Court of Appeals address, in rejecting Petitioner's argument:

> The dispute is over a portion of Ms. Curtin's claims. Specifically, the question is whether Ms. Curtin may recover damages for medical expenses incurred prior to her 18<sup>th</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The Court of Appeals Decision (Slip opinion page 6) rejected Petitioner's reading of *Handley v. Anacortes Ice Co.*, 5 Wn.2d 384, 105 P.2d 505 (1940) and *Harris v. Puget Sound Electric Railway*, 52 Wash. 299, 100 P. 841(1909). Why Petitioner is not able to cite to these cases specifically in their Petition for Review as the cases they believe are in conflict is a mystery.

birthday. The Respondents argue, and the trial court agreed, that pre-majority medical expenses can be recovered only by a child's parents since the parents are financially responsible for the child's care and maintenance. *See* RCW 26.16.205. We review this legal question de novo. *Smith v. Bates Tech. Coll.*, 139 Wn.2d 793, 800, 991 P.2d 1135(2000). The Respondents' arguments against standing are based on the common law. The common law rule was a minor's parents held the exclusive rights to recover a child's medical expenses. *See State ex rel. Packard v. Perry*, 221 W. Va. 526, 532, 655 S.E.2d 548 (2007). The reasoning was that a child had no standing to recover pre-majority medical expenses unless the parents had assigned the child that right or the child had been emancipated. *Id.* at 534.

See Curtin v. City of East Wenatchee, \_\_\_\_Wn.App.\_\_\_, 457 P.3d 470,

(Div. 3 2020) WL 582148 (Wn.App. 2020). (Slip opinion at 4-5.)

The issue raised in the Petition for Review was whether the Court of Appeals ruled consistent with earlier Supreme Court case precedents; holding that the right in a tort action to recover pre-majority medical expenses lies with both the minor and the parents and can be recovered by the minor as necessaries if the minor's parents do not or cannot claim. The Court of Appeals ruled as follows based on Supreme Court precedent:

> In a series of prescient decisions, our high court declined to follow the common law approach. In *McAllister v. Saginaw Timber Co.*, 171 Wash. 448, 451, 18 P.2d 41(1933), the Supreme Court held the right to recover for pre-majority medical expenses lies with both a parent and child. The court reached this determination without qualification; the child in *McAllister* had not been emancipated and the court did not reason that the child's mother had refused support or assigned her right of recovery. *Id.* Instead, *McAllister* held that because medical expenses are legal "necessaries," the parent and

child hold equal rights and responsibilities. *Id*. The court also noted the shared right to recovery for pre-majority medical expenses must not work an injustice by permitting double recovery.

*Id.* (Slip opinion at 5-6.)

The Court of Appeals decision in this case does not conflict with

any Supreme Court case. In rejecting Petitioner's argument, the Court of

Appeals decision goes further to state specifically:

Respondents [East Wenatchee] seek refuge in *Handley v.* Anacortes Ice Co., 5 Wn.2d 384, 105 P.2d 505 (1940) and Harris v. Puget Sound Electric Railway, 52 Wash. 299, 100 P. 841(1909), but neither decision is inconsistent with the rule articulated in McAllister. Handley and Harris recognized that when a child is injured, the parent and the child may both have causes of action. Handley, 5 Wn.2d at 396; Harris, 52 Wash. at 300-01. Recovery of pre-majority medical expenses is generally a claim made by the parent who has paid the expenses; Harris and Handley referred to the right as such. But neither Harris nor Handley controverted McAllister's clear rule (implicit in Flessher) that the right of recovery lies with the minor in addition to the minor's parents.

*Id.* (Slip opinion at 6.)

Clearly *McAllister*, adopts the medical necessaries exception to the general rule that only a parent can claim the child's medical expenses. The Court of Appeals correctly interpreted the Supreme Court's holding in *McAllister*, that the right of recovery lies with the minor in addition to the minor's parents and does not contradict the decisions in *Handley* and *Harris*.

#### F. Conclusion.

In a series of precedent cases Washington's Supreme Court has already rejected Petitioners' argument that, an unemancipated minor must actually make a contract to be potentially bound to pay for medical expenses, and that only a parent can assert the claim and that no cause of action lies in favor of the minor for recovery of medical expenses as necessaries.

In *McAllister*, the Supreme Court adopted the exception to the general rule that only a parent can claim the child's medical expenses. The Supreme Court held that medical expenses incurred by the minor, injured in an automobile collision, are "necessaries" for which minor is liable and can independently recover at trial if not recovered by the parent.

The Court of Appeals correctly interpreted the Supreme Court's holding in *McAllister*, that the right of recovery lies with the minor in addition to the minor's parents and does not contradict the decisions in *Handley* and *Harris*. There is no direct conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court and the Petition for Review should be denied.